Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: February 3, 2018 ACCEPTED: March 5, 2018 PUBLISHED: March 13, 2018

Top-philic Z' forces at the LHC

Patrick J. Fox,^{*a*} Ian Low^{b,c,d} and Yue Zhang^{a,c}

- ^a Theoretical Physics Department, Fermilab, Batavia, IL 60510, U.S.A.
- ^bHigh Energy Physics Division, Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, IL 60439, U.S.A.
- ^cDepartment of Physics and Astronomy, Northwestern University, 2145 Sheridan Road, Evanston, IL 60208, U.S.A.

d Theoretical Physics Department, CERN, 1211 Geneva 23, Switzerland E-mail: pjfox@fnal.gov, ilow@northwestern.edu, yuezhang@northwestern.edu

ABSTRACT: Despite extensive searches for an additional neutral massive gauge boson at the LHC, a Z' at the weak scale could still be present if its couplings to the first two generations of quarks are suppressed, in which case the production in hadron colliders relies on tree-level processes in association with heavy flavors or one-loop processes in association with a jet. We consider the low-energy effective theory of a top-philic Z' and present possible UV completions. We clarify theoretical subtleties in evaluating the production of a top-philic Z' at the LHC and examine carefully the treatment of an anomalous Z' current in the low-energy effective theory. Recipes for properly computing the production rate in the Z' + j channel are given. We discuss constraints from colliders and low-energy probes of new physics. As an application, we apply these considerations to models that use a weak-scale Z' to explain possible violations of lepton universality in B meson decays, and show that the future running of a high luminosity LHC can potentially cover much of the remaining parameter space favored by this particular interpretation of the B physics anomaly.

KEYWORDS: Anomalies in Field and String Theories, Beyond Standard Model

ARXIV EPRINT: 1801.03505



Contents

1	Introduction	1			
2	2 The low-energy effective theory				
3	Possible UV completions	6			
	3.1 Effective Z' model	8			
	3.2 Gauged top model	9			
4	Top-philic Z' production channels at LHC	9			
	4.1 Effect of heavy T on loop-level Z' production	10			
	4.2 Our recipe for loop process calculations	14			
5	LHC bound on the top-philic Z' using multi-top final states	15			
6	Application to recent LHCb excesses	16			
	6.1 B-physics anomalies	16			
	6.2 LHC dimuon resonance search for Z'	18			
	6.3 ν trident production	20			
	6.4 Electroweak precision constraints on $Z - Z'$ mixing	20			
	6.5 Additional constraints	21			
	6.6 Interplay of all constraints in the effective Z' model	22			
7	Conclusion				
A	Deriving the effective $Z'gg$ vertex via path integral	25			
в	$b ightarrow s \mu \mu$ in the gauged top model	26			

1 Introduction

So far collider searches for new phenomena have not found any credible signals of new physics beyond the SM. These searches are extensive and broad, and have placed significant constraints on many popular new physics models. In some cases exclusion limits at the LHC reached multi-TeV mass scales, examples of which include the lower bound on a particular type of Z' at around 4 TeV [1] or a limit on the mass of gluinos in supersymmetry at around 2 TeV [2]. Given that the initial gain in the reach of the LHC from the increased center-of-mass energy from 8 to 13 TeV is gradually tapering off beyond the first 10 fb⁻¹ or so, the continuing absence of significant deviations in current data suggests we may be on a slow march toward any potential discoveries. Therefore, the time may be ripe to re-organize the search for new physics and ponder over lingering opportunities — Where is new physics at the LHC?

To answer the question, it is useful to recall that searches at hadron colliders, the LHC in particular, lean heavily on new physics having significant couplings to partons inside the proton, and then subsequently decaying into high p_T objects, whether visible or invisible, in the detectors. Thus, to find the new physics there are two obvious strategies to proceed. The first rests on the observation that the proton is mostly made of gluons and light-flavor quarks, therefore suppressing couplings to these partons would typically imply a reduced production rate and/or open up new production channels that were previously subdominant. In particular, new channels often involve producing new physics in association with other SM particles. The second strategy makes use of the fact that, if new physics predominantly decays into soft objects, or outside of the detector, then the acceptance rate would diminish, rendering the signal more exotic and difficult to detect. These considerations motivated many proposals for new physics at around or below the weak scale, such as those discussed in refs. [3, 4], and opened up new dimensions in searches for new physics. It then becomes clear that, in spite of a tremendous amount of past and existing efforts, much remains to be done.

In this work we will consider one of the most extensively studied subjects in beyondthe-SM (BSM) landscape, the Z' gauge boson which appears in numerous extensions of the SM [5–9], and examine whether a light Z', in the order of a few hundreds GeV, could still be present at the LHC. As discussed already, one way to explain the absence of a Z'signal so far is to suppress, or turn off completely, its couplings to the first two generations of quarks. Can we hide a light Z' at the LHC this way?

There are a few reasons for the exercise we are doing. The first is to use this wellknown object to demonstrate the need to think "outside of the box" for BSM searches at this particular juncture in time. The goal is to evaluate current constraints on a Z'boson from a global perspective and devise future search strategies. In addition, we will see that the Z' boson considered in this work has novel collider signatures that are distinct from those previously considered in Z' searches. Secondly, the existence of a Z' boson is associated with an additional U(1) gauge group. One of the most striking features of the SM is that all gauge anomalies vanish. Adding additional gauge groups imposes constraints on the UV completion of the model such that the anomaly associated with the Z' must cancel. Usually this is brushed aside as an UV issue and irrelevant for the phenomenology in the low-energy, as one can always introduce additional "spectator fermions" at very high energies whose sole purpose is to cancel the anomaly. On generic ground one does not expect these heavy spectator fermions to have an impact on the low-energy collider phenomenology of the Z'. We will show that this is not always the case, especially when one considers a "top-philic" Z' boson which couples to anomalous currents. Previous studies on collider phenomenology of a top-philic Z' [10–12] contain some subtleties we aim to clarify in this work. The third reason is recently a top-philic Z' was invoked as a possible explanation to possible violations of the lepton universality in $b \to s$ transitions [13]. Needless to say, violations to lepton universality would be a major discovery and it is important to evaluate its potential implications at the LHC.

Earlier discussions on an anomalous Z' mostly focus on the couplings to massive electroweak gauge bosons in its decays [14–16] as well as discussions of Z? coupling to gluons [17]. More recent studies were done in the context of a light dark force mediator in lowenergy probes [18, 19], dark matter annihilations through a Z' [17, 20–24], or electroweak gauge boson decays to Z' [25]. Here we mainly focus on the collider phenomenology and discuss subtleties in calculating the Z' production at the LHC, which is crucial to properly evaluating the experimental constraints and future search prospects in a high-energy collider.¹

This work is organized as follows. We start the discussion in the next section, section 2, by working at energies where the only new state is a Z' gauge boson and the theory is described by an EFT where the Z' is coupled to the top quark and to SM leptons. If the coupling of the Z' to the top quark, or leptons, is chiral such a model is anomalous. In section 3 we consider in detail two possible UV completions of this low energy theory that fix the anomaly in different ways: an "effective Z'" model and a "gauge top model". In section 5 we investigate the LHC constraints on a top-philic Z' from searches in multi-top final states, assuming all other couplings are negligible. If the Z' has couplings to SM leptons there are further constraints on the model which we discuss in section 6. Furthermore, these additional lepton couplings have the potential to explain recent anomalies seen in lepton universality violating observables in B meson decays, without introducing any new flavor violation. We show that the region of parameter in Z' models that can explain the anomalies is smaller than previously thought. In section 7 we conclude.

2 The low-energy effective theory

The starting point of our discussion is the following effective Lagrangian, valid at the weak scale or below,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{SM}} - \frac{1}{4} Z'_{\mu\nu} Z'^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} M_{Z'}^2 Z'^{\mu} Z'_{\mu} + Z'_{\mu} \bar{t} \gamma^{\mu} (c_{t_L} P_L + c_{t_R} P_R) t + \sum_{i=e,\mu,\tau} Z'_{\mu} \bar{\ell}_i \gamma^{\mu} (c_{\ell_{i\,L}} P_L + c_{\ell_{i\,R}} P_R) \ell_i , \qquad (2.1)$$

where c_{\bullet_L} , and c_{\bullet_R} are free parameters at this stage. In the above we have used the notation • = $\{t, \ell_e, \ell_\mu, \ell_\tau\}$. Also $P_{L,R} = (1 \mp \gamma^5)/2$ are the usual projection operators. This is the effective Lagrangian for a top-philic Z' boson with couplings to leptons.

An effective theory involving a Z' is usually thought of as descending from an abelian U(1)' gauge theory in the Higgs phase, where the gauge boson becomes massive. This could be achieved by introducing a complex scalar field whose vacuum expectation value f breaks U(1)' spontaneously. The currents coupling to the Z' are anomalous in general, except for the carefully chosen parameters $c_{\bullet_L} = c_{\bullet_R}$. In the full theory the gauge invariance can be restored by introducing spectator fermions with the appropriate U(1)' charges to cancel the anomaly. These spectator fermions could be heavy and integrated out of the effective theory. From the low-energy perspective, non-conservation of the U(1)' current is not necessarily a pathology, as the effective theory can still be consistently quantized as long as a cutoff is introduced [27].

¹These subtleties have also been addressed in [26].



Figure 1. Top quark contribution to the $U(1)' - SU(3)^2$ anomaly coefficient in the low energy theory of (2.1).

These considerations justify using eq. (2.1) as a "simplified model" to study the collider phenomenology of a top-philic Z' at the weak scale [10–12]. There are some subtleties, however, that we wish to highlight. While a theory with an anomalous U(1)' current can be a consistent effective theory, there is a particular class of diagrams involving the "mixedanomaly" between one Z' gauge boson and two gluons, which could have an important impact on the production mechanism of a top-philic Z' at the LHC, because the Z' does not couple to light flavor quarks and cannot be produced through the usual Drell-Yan process. Therefore, care must be taken when evaluating the contribution from the fermion triangle, and box, diagrams.

Coupling of the Z' boson with two gluons in the effective theory is induced at the oneloop level through the top quark triangle loop, as shown in the two diagrams in figure 1. In the effective theory the amplitude for each diagram is linearly divergent and a regulator as well as loop momentum routing scheme must be introduced for each to properly define the amplitude, albeit the sum of the two diagrams is finite. If the Z' couples to an anomalous current, no regulator exists that would simultaneously preserve current conservation of all three external gauge bosons. Alternatively, the value of each diagram in figure 1 depends on the routing of the loop momentum and, in an anomaly-free theory, the sum of the two diagrams does not depend on the momentum shift in the individual diagram. If the U(1)' is anomalous, additional physical input is necessary to single out a particular momentum routing scheme. Two popular choices of scheme exist in the literature, which correspond to the consistent anomaly versus covariant anomaly [28]. In the context of our discussion, the consistent anomaly corresponds to symmetrizing with respect to all three external momenta,

$$-(p+q)^{\mu}\mathcal{M}^{ab}_{\mu\nu\rho} = p^{\mu}\mathcal{M}^{ab}_{\nu\mu\rho} = q^{\mu}\mathcal{M}^{ab}_{\nu\rho\mu} \neq 0, \qquad (2.2)$$

which then implies the $SU(3)_C$ gauge invariance is lost. In the effective theory this is compensated by adding a Wess-Zumino term [29]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}} \supset c_{WZ} \ g_X g_s^2 \ \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} Z'_{\mu} \left(G^a_{\nu} \partial_{\rho} G^a_{\sigma} + \frac{1}{3} g_s \epsilon^{abc} G^a_{\nu} G^b_{\rho} G^c_{\sigma} \right).$$
(2.3)

The Wess-Zumino term gives a new contribution to the three-point amplitude such that the total amplitude, $\mathcal{M}_{\text{tot}} = \mathcal{M} + \mathcal{M}_{WZ}$, satisfies $SU(3)_C$ gauge invariance

$$p^{\nu}\mathcal{M}^{ab}_{\mu\nu\rho} = q^{\rho}\mathcal{M}^{ab}_{\mu\nu\rho} = 0\,, \qquad (2.4)$$

which determines the coefficient c_{WZ} . On the other hand, the covariant anomaly approach chooses a scheme that manifestly respects SM gauge invariance by maintaining eq. (2.4)

through a particular choice of momentum routing scheme in computing the triangle diagrams. In this case one can set $c_{WZ} = 0$ in eq. (2.3). Both approaches lead to the same nonconservation of the U(1)' current, in the limit that the fermion in the loop becomes massless,

$$-(p+q)^{\mu}\mathcal{M}^{ab}_{\mu\nu\rho} = \operatorname{Tr}(T^{a}T^{b}) (c_{T_{L}} - c_{T_{R}}) \frac{g_{X}g_{s}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \epsilon_{\nu\rho\lambda\sigma} p^{\lambda}q^{\sigma}, \qquad (2.5)$$

where we see explicitly that, when $c_{T_L} = c_{T_R}$, the U(1)' current is vector-like and, therefore, conserved.

In the low-energy effective theory, the appearance of a Wess-Zumino term can be interpreted as arising from integrating out the heavy spectator fermions responsible for canceling the anomaly in the full theory. This is similar to integrating out the top quark in the SM and generating a Wess-Zumino term along the way [30, 31]. However, if one is not interested in the phenomenology of the spectator fermion, the distinction between the consistent versus covariant regularization in the simplified model is irrelevant, and both lead to the same amplitude in eq. (2.5) once the SM gauge invariance is imposed. The intricate interplay between the spectator fermion and the anomaly will be demonstrated later in this study.

One might argue that the calculation of the three-point amplitude in figure 1 is irrelevant, as the Landau-Yang theorem forbids the coupling of an on-shell Z' with two massless gauge bosons [32, 33]. There are two subtleties here that deserve to be clarified. First, the selection rule arises from the inability to satisfy both the angular momentum conservation and the Bose symmetry: J = 1 state of the on-shell Z' requires the two massless gauge bosons to be in an anti-symmetric spin configuration while the Bose symmetry demands a symmetric total wave function. For two gluons, however, there is a twist in that the color degrees of freedom could provide an extra set of quantum numbers to symmetrize the wave function and satisfy Bose symmetry. But since the Z' is a color singlet, the color indices of the two gluons must be in a symmetric combination and the Landau-Yang theorem is still valid.² The corollary of this discussion is that a top-philic Z' cannot be singly produced on-shell from the gluon fusion at the LHC. Here lies the second subtlety: although the single production of an on-shell Z' is forbidden, off-shell production is still possible. In this channel, however, it is imperative to incorporate the width of the Z' in a consistent fashion, for instance by adopting the complex mass scheme [35–37] and replacing $M_{Z'}^2 \to M_{Z'}^2 - i\Gamma_{Z'}M_{Z'}$ everywhere in the calculation [38]. This has the effect of turning the production of an off-shell Z' into a contact interaction between the gluons and the decay product of the Z', which then becomes part of the QCD continuum background. It is an interesting question whether precision measurements of the relevant background could place meaningful constraints on the off-shell Z' production, which is beyond the scope of the present work.

In the end, to produce a top-philic Z' on-shell we need to resort to associate production with other SM particles. Two production channels involving strong interactions are the tree-level $t\bar{t}Z'$ and the one-loop Z' + j channels [10, 11], which will be considered in this work, although electroweak production such as the vector-boson fusion channel is also

²A massive spin-1 boson that is color-octet can and will couple to two gluons on-shell [34].



Figure 2. Feynman diagrams for loop-level Z' production at the LHC in the effective theory. First row: loop-level $g\bar{g} \to gZ'$ process; second row: loop-level $q\bar{q} \to gZ'$ and $qg \to qZ'$ processes. Diagrams with inverted fermion arrows are not shown.

possible [14]. The Feynman diagrams for the loop-induced production is shown in figure 2. We see that the three-point coupling of one Z' with two gluons features prominently, and must be dealt with carefully in the effective theory.

3 Possible UV completions

In this section we consider possible UV completions to the effective Lagrangian in eq. (2.1). The main purpose is to shed light on some of the subtleties in the calculation of the anomaly-induced couplings from the UV perspective. It should be clear that, in addition to the SM, the minimal matter content must include a complex scalar Φ' charged under U(1)' and neutral under $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$, whose VEV breaks U(1)' spontaneously, as well as a vector-like pair of $SU(2)_L$ singlet fermions (U'_L, U'_R) that carries U(1)' charge. If the vector-like fermion mixes with the SM top quark, a low-energy theory like eq. (2.1) can be obtained after integrating out the heavy fermionic mass eigenstate, which plays the role of the spectator fermion responsible for cancelling the U(1)' anomaly.

We consider two possible patterns for the mixing between fermions with and without the U(1)' charges. The first possibility is to introduce the mixing entirely through U(1)' symmetry breaking effect, after the complex scalar Φ' gets a VEV, which is the effective Z' model presented in ref. [39]. In this scenario the coupling of the SM to the Z' comes only through fermion mixing. In the second possibility, since the right-handed top quark is also an SU(2)_L singlet, we could directly designate U'_R as the right-handed top quark in the SM. This can be achieved by introducing an additional Higgs doublet H' that is charged under U(1)' to write down a gauge-invariant Yukawa coupling between Q_L , the third generation left-handed doublet, and U'_R . We call the second possibility the "gauged-top" model, in which scenario there should be a second Higgs doublet H that is not charged under U(1)', to give mass to the remaining SM fermions.

0	- T			$SU(3)_c$	$SU(2)_L$	$U(1)_Y$	U(1)'
$\langle \mathcal{Q} 3L \rangle$			Q_{3L}			1/6	0
H'		Φ	u_{3R}		1	2/3	0
			U_L'		1	2/3	q_t
U	R	μ U'_L	U_R'		1	2/3	q_t

Figure 3. Structure of interactions, and the charges of the relevant fields, in the general model defined eq. (3.2). The fermions on the top line of the diagram are uncharged under U(1)' while those at the bottom are charged, the scalar H has SM charges only, Φ' has U(1)' charges only, and H' has both. The effective Z' model, has the couplings in the vertical orange band turned off, while the gauged top model corresponds to those in the horizontal green band being zero. Equivalently, the fields in the green band make up the SM-like states in the effective Z' model and the fields in orange become the SM-like particles in the gauged top model. Without loss of generality, we set the charge $q_t = 1$ hereafter.

More specifically, we start with a $G_{\rm SM} \times U(1)'$ invariant theory with the following chiral fermion and scalar content.

$$H': (1,2,-1/2,q_t), \quad \Phi': (1,1,0,q_t), \quad U'_L: (3,1,2/3,q_t), \quad U'_R: (3,1,2/3,q_t)
 H: (1,2,-1/2,0), \quad Q_{3L}: (3,2,1/6,0), \quad u_{3R}: (3,1,2/3,0),$$
(3.1)

where $Q_{3L} \simeq (u_{3L}, d_{3L})$ and u_{R3} are the third generation left-handed quark doublet and the right-handed quark singlet in the SM, respectively, before electroweak symmetry breaking. The lower indices L, R indicates the chirality of fermions. In our notation, all the primed matter fields are charged under U(1)', while the unprimed fields are neutral. The most general renormalizable interactions made of these fields takes the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}} = \lambda_H \, \bar{Q}_{3L} \dot{H} \, u_{3R} + \lambda_{H'} \, \bar{Q}_{3L} \dot{H'} \, U'_R + \lambda_{\Phi'} \, \bar{U}'_L u_{3R} \Phi' + \mu \, \bar{U}'_L U'_R + \text{h.c.} + g_X \left(\bar{U}'_L \gamma^{\mu} U'_L + \bar{U}'_R \gamma^{\mu} U'_R \right) Z'_\mu \,.$$
(3.2)

where for simplicity we suppressed the interaction of Z' to the scalars. Without loss of generality, we set the charge $q_t = 1$ hereafter. In the above $\lambda_{H'}$ gives the fermion mass mixing after electroweak symmetry breaking, while $\lambda_{\Phi'}$ induces the mixing via U(1)' breaking effect. Therefore the effective Z' model corresponds to $\lambda_{H'} = 0$ while the gaugedtop model has $\lambda_H = 0$. Figure 3 depicts the structure of fermion interactions via scalars in this model.

When all the couplings are non-zero, the physical right-handed top quark t_R is a linear combination of u_{3R} and U'_R , with the orthogonal linear combination pairs up with U'_L to form the vector-like top partner (T_L, T_R) in the mass eigenbasis. This is the U(1)' anomalycanceling spectator fermion. Notice that, since H' is charged under both U(1)' and the electroweak symmetry, its VEV induces a tree-level mixing between the Z' and the SM Z-boson, which are well constrained experimentally [11]. In the following subsections, we discuss the two limiting cases by varying the parameters in the above model which leads to the effective Z' model and the gauged top model.

3.1 Effective Z' model

The first limiting case is to set $\lambda_{H'} \to 0$. In this case, the U(1)' and electroweak symmetry breaking are separate and there is no tree-level Z - Z' mixing. The fermion mass matrix takes the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{mass}} = \left(\bar{u}_{3L} \ \bar{U}_{L}'\right) \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \lambda_{H} v_{H} & 0\\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \lambda_{\Phi'} v_{\Phi'} & \mu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_{3R}\\ U_{R}' \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.3)$$

where the scalar field VEV's are $\langle H \rangle = v_H/\sqrt{2} \simeq 174 \,\text{GeV}$ and $\langle \Phi' \rangle = v_{\Phi'}/\sqrt{2}$. After diagonalizing the mass matrix, there are two pairs of vector-like fermions denoted by (t_L, t_R) and (T_L, T_R) , with physical masses m_t and M_T . They are related to the fermion fields introduced in eq. (3.2) via the rotation matrices,

$$\begin{pmatrix} t_R \\ T_R \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \theta_R - \sin \theta_R \\ \sin \theta_R & \cos \theta_R \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_{3R} \\ U'_R \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \begin{pmatrix} t_L \\ T_L \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \theta_L - \sin \theta_L \\ \sin \theta_L & \cos \theta_L \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_{3L} \\ U'_L \end{pmatrix}. \quad (3.4)$$

There are two rotational angles, θ_L and θ_R , for the mixing between left- and right-handed fermion mixing, respectively. They are related to each other and the physical parameters through,

$$\tan \theta_L = \frac{m_t}{M_T} \tan \theta_R,$$

$$\lambda_H = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{m_t^2}{M_T^2} \tan^2 \theta_R}} \frac{\sqrt{2}m_t/v_H}{\cos \theta_R}, \ |\lambda_{\Phi'}| = \frac{\sqrt{2}g_X M_T}{M_{Z'}} \left(\frac{1 - m_t^2/M_T^2}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{m_t^2}{M_T^2} \tan^2 \theta_R}}\right) |\sin \theta_R|, \tag{3.5}$$

where the Z' gauge boson mass $M_{Z'} = g_X v_{\Phi'}$. Since the top Yukawa coupling, λ_H , is perturbed from its SM value the Higgs-gluon-gluon coupling will be altered from its SM value. Global fits to Higgs properties, e.g. [40], limit deviations in the top-Higgs coupling at 95% C.L. to about 20%, placing a bound of $|\sin \theta_R| \leq 0.5$. Requiring that $|\lambda_{\Phi}|$ be perturbative up to 14 TeV places a constraint of $\lambda_{\Phi}(M_T \sim 1 \text{ TeV}) \leq 3$. This will also limit the range of $\theta_{L,R}$ for given $M_{Z'}, M_T$ masses.

The Z' couplings to the fermion mass eigenstates take the general form

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{t} \mathbf{Z}' (c_{t_L} P_L + c_{t_R} P_R) t + \bar{T} \mathbf{Z}' (c_{T_L} P_L + c_{T_R} P_R) T + \left(\bar{t} \mathbf{Z}' (d_L P_L + d_R P_R) T + \text{h.c.} \right).$$
(3.6)

In this effective Z' model, the above coefficients can be expressed using θ_R and the physical mass parameters,

$$c_{t_R} = g_X \sin^2 \theta_R, \qquad c_{t_L} = g_X \sin^2 \left[\tan^{-1} \left(\frac{m_t}{M_T} \tan \theta_R \right) \right],$$

$$c_{T_R} = g_X \cos^2 \theta_R, \qquad c_{T_L} = g_X \cos^2 \left[\tan^{-1} \left(\frac{m_t}{M_T} \tan \theta_R \right) \right], \qquad (3.7)$$

$$d_R = -\frac{g_X}{2} \sin 2\theta_R, \qquad d_L = -\frac{g_X}{2} \sin \left[2 \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{m_t}{M_T} \tan \theta_R \right) \right].$$

3.2 Gauged top model

In the second limiting case, we take $\lambda_H \to 0$. The non-zero VEV's are $\langle H' \rangle = v_H \sin \beta / \sqrt{2}$, $\langle H \rangle = v_H \cos \beta / \sqrt{2}$, and $\langle \Phi' \rangle = v_{\Phi'} / \sqrt{2}$. The VEV of H' will induce a tree-level mixing between Z and Z'. Their mass matrix takes the form

$$M_{ZZ'}^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{Z,\text{SM}}^{2} & -g_{X}v_{H}\sin^{2}\beta M_{Z,\text{SM}} \\ -g_{X}v_{H}\sin^{2}\beta M_{Z,\text{SM}} & g_{X}^{2}(v_{H}^{2}\sin^{2}\beta + v_{\Phi'}^{2}) \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.8)

where $M_{Z,SM} = gv_H/(2\cos\theta_W)$, g is the SU(2)_L gauge coupling and θ_W is the weak mixing angle. The LEP experiment puts an upper limit on the shift of Z-boson mass as well as Z - Z' mixing angle, which will be discussed in section 6.

The SM-like right-handed top is now associated with U'_R and the fermion mass matrix takes the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{mass}} = \left(\bar{u}_{3L} \ \bar{U}'_L\right) \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \lambda_{H'} v_H \sin \beta & 0\\ \mu & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \lambda_{\Phi'} v_{\Phi'} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} U'_R\\ u_{3R} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.9)

The rotations to the mass basis are similar to those of (3.4) but with $U'_R \leftrightarrow u_{3R}$. Despite the relabelling of right-handed fields the structure of the mass matrix is the same as before. Thus,

$$\tan \theta_L = \frac{m_t}{M_T} \tan \theta_R,$$

$$\lambda_{H'} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{m_t^2}{M_T^2} \tan^2 \theta_R}} \frac{\sqrt{2}m_t/v_H}{\cos \theta_R \sin \beta}, \quad |\lambda_{\Phi'}| = \frac{\sqrt{2}g_X M_T}{M_{Z'}} \sqrt{1 + \frac{m_t^2}{M_T^2} \tan^2 \theta_R} \cos \theta_R.$$
(3.10)

In the gauge top model, the coefficients defined in eq. (3.6) take the following forms,

$$c_{t_R} = g_X \cos^2 \theta_R, \qquad c_{t_L} = g_X \sin^2 \left[\tan^{-1} \left(\frac{m_t}{M_T} \tan \theta_R \right) \right],$$

$$c_{T_R} = g_X \sin^2 \theta_R, \qquad c_{T_L} = g_X \cos^2 \left[\tan^{-1} \left(\frac{m_t}{M_T} \tan \theta_R \right) \right], \qquad (3.11)$$

$$d_R = \frac{g_X}{2} \sin 2\theta_R, \qquad d_L = -\frac{g_X}{2} \sin \left[2 \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{m_t}{M_T} \tan \theta_R \right) \right].$$

Here the right-handed couplings are different from those in the effective Z' model, eq. (3.7), while the left-handed couplings remain the same. This is because the SM top quark-like fermion is directly charged under the U(1)'. Naively, this seems to indicate that the Z' is more strongly coupled to the SM top quark in this model. However, the LEP experiment sets a strong constraint on the Z - Z' mixing and in turn the gauge coupling g_X (see section 6.4 and figure 12) if the Z' mass is close to the weak scale.

4 Top-philic Z' production channels at LHC

Having discussed the possible UV completions of a top-philic Z', we now explore in this section its production at the LHC. The relevant interaction terms that determine the

production rate of the Z' are those of eq. (3.6). The dominant production channels of such a top-philic Z' boson at the LHC include

- The tree-level process, $pp \to t\bar{t}Z'$ which depends only on c_{t_L}, c_{t_R} couplings, and is dominated by gluon initiated states. We neglect the subdominant processes such as $pp \to tWZ'$ and $pp \to tjZ'$.
- Loop-level processes, $gg \to gZ'$, $q\bar{q} \to gZ'$, $qg \to qZ'$ and $\bar{q}g \to \bar{q}Z'$. The fermions t and T both contribute to the loop level processes, as can be seen in figure 2. As we will see below, when working in the low energy theory below the T mass one must be careful to correctly include non-decoupling effects of T running in the loop.

For numerical determination of these production cross sections we create the Z' model file using FeynRules [41], and compute the cross section for tree-level process $pp \rightarrow t\bar{t}Z'$ using MadGraph5 [42]. For calculating the loop processes, we resort to FeynArts/FormCalc [43] for calculating the parton level cross sections, and then use NNPDF [44, 45] for calculating the LHC production cross section at 13 TeV.

As will be shown in this section and the next two, the cross section for the loop production of Z' + jet could be comparable to that of the tree level $Z' + t\bar{t}$ production, and it has a strong impact on the Z' search at the LHC.

4.1 Effect of heavy T on loop-level Z' production

We now elaborate on the effect of heavy fermion T on the loop production channels of Z', and discuss the consistent way to decouple T as its mass becomes large, see also [26]. As one would expect, the cancellation of gauge anomalies play an important role in this procedure. The Z' can couple differently to left- and right-handed quarks. However, if we start from a non-anomalous UV theory and keep the heavy fermion T in the low-energy spectrum, the U(1)' current must be conserved. This places a constraint on the couplings in eq. (3.6),

$$c_{t_L} - c_{t_R} = -(c_{T_L} - c_{T_R}). (4.1)$$

One cannot decouple T by simply setting its couplings to zero, instead they make nondecoupling contributions through the anomaly diagrams, whose values are dictated by eq. (4.1), and their net effect is equivalent to the Wess-Zumino terms discussed in section 2. Note, both eqs. (3.7) and (3.11) satisfy the condition of anomaly cancellation in eq. (4.1), which has important implications on the effects of the heavy T fermion in the loop production channels of the Z'.

First consider the processes $q\bar{q} \to gZ'$ and $qg \to qZ'$. The leading Feynman diagrams for these processes are shown by those in the second row of figure 2, both of which involve the 3-point Z'gg coupling generated at loop level. Because the gluon couplings conserves C parity, a generalized Furry theorem guarantees that the contribution from the vectorcurrent coupling of Z' to the loop fermion vanishes. Only the axial-current-coupling part contributes which is directly connected to the $U(1)' \otimes SU(3)_C^2$ gauge anomaly. Hereafter, we define the general effective Z'gg vertex induced by a fermion f loop to be,

$$g_{s}^{2} \text{Tr}(T^{a}T^{b}) \frac{c_{f_{L}} - c_{f_{R}}}{2} \Gamma_{\sigma\rho\mu}(k_{1}, k_{2}, k_{3}, m_{f}) \varepsilon_{g}^{\sigma a*}(k_{1}) \varepsilon_{g}^{\rho b*}(k_{2}) \varepsilon_{Z'}^{\mu*}(k_{3}), \qquad (4.2)$$

where a, b are the gluon color factors, k_1, k_2, k_3 are the external momentum flow (out of the loop), and the polarization vector ε 's indicate the combination of momenta and Lorentz indices for the gauge bosons. $\Gamma_{\sigma\rho\mu}(k_1, k_2, k_3, m_f)$ is the form factor for the fermion loop. In the appendix A, we discuss the derivation of this form factor using the path integral in the large m_f limit.

Applying this to our model, and using the anomaly cancellation relation eq. (4.1), the Z'gg vertex takes the form

$$\frac{1}{4}g_s^2\delta^{ab}(c_{t_L} - c_{t_R}) \left[\Gamma_{\sigma\rho\mu}(k_1, k_2, k_3, m_t) - \Gamma_{\sigma\rho\mu}(k_1, k_2, k_3, M_T)\right]\varepsilon_g^{\sigma a*}(k_1)\varepsilon_g^{\rho b*}(k_2)\varepsilon_{Z'}^{\mu*}(k_3).$$
(4.3)

The most important feature of it is that only the difference of the two form factors (from t and T loops) enter in the result. It implies that one may redefine Γ by a constant universal to all the fermions, without affecting the result.

The freedom of redefining the above form factor is closely related to the choice of consistent versus covariant anomalies discussed previously, see also [18, 19, 24]. The two are related to each other through the Wess-Zumino term. In the consistent anomaly case, the divergence of the form factor takes symmetric forms with respect to all the three external momenta k_1, k_2, k_3 . On the other hand, for the covariant anomaly, one imposes the following gauge invariant condition for the SU(3)_C

$$\Gamma_{\sigma\rho\mu}(k_1, k_2, k_3, m_f)k_1^{\sigma} = \Gamma_{\sigma\rho\mu}(k_1, k_2, k_3, m_f)k_2^{\rho} = 0.$$
(4.4)

In this case, the form factor $\Gamma_{\sigma\rho\mu}(k_1, k_2, k_3, m_f)$ takes the following explicit form [46]

$$\frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_0^1 dx \int_0^{1-x} dy \frac{x(x+y-1)\varepsilon_{\alpha\mu\rho\sigma}k_2^2 k_{1\alpha} - y(x+y-1)\varepsilon_{\alpha\mu\rho\sigma}k_1^2 k_{2\alpha} + xyk_{3\mu}k_1^{\alpha}k_2^{\beta}\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}}{y(1-y)k_1^2 + x(1-x)k_2^2 + 2xyk_1 \cdot k_2 - m_f^2},$$
(4.5)

which vanishes as $1/m_f^2$ in the large fermion mass limit $m_f \to \infty$. In other words, the heavy T fermions decouple completely and there is no need to introduce Wess-Zumino term. On the other hand, in consistent anomaly approach one chooses a momentum routing in a way that is symmetric with respect to all three external momenta. Then the form factor $\Gamma_{\sigma\rho\mu}(k_1, k_2, k_3, m_f)$ does not vanish as $m_f \to \infty$ but instead approaches a constant. This is the explicit realization of a Wess-Zumino term from integrating out a heavy spectator fermion whose sole purpose is to cancel the U(1)' anomaly. But since the vertex function in eq. (4.3) is only proportional to the difference in the two form factors from the t and the T loops, the result is independent of whether one uses the covariant anomaly or the consistent anomaly approach, as it should be. In the appendix A, we derive this form factor in the large m_f limit using the path integral approach.

When using a software package to perform the one-loop calculation, it is then important to keep the spectator T fermions in the loop and implement the anomaly cancellation condition in eq. (4.1), unless one can be sure that the software employs the momentum routing scheme of the covariant anomaly approach, where the T fermion decouples completely. Otherwise, erroneous results will follow.

To demonstrate the importance of the preceding discussion in practice, we calculate the cross sections for $q\bar{q} \rightarrow gZ'$ and $qg \rightarrow qZ'$ in two ways, analytically using the above form factor, and numerically using FeynArts/FormCalc. Not surprisingly, the calculation of FeynArts/FormCalc does not correspond to the covariant anomaly approach, i.e., each $\Gamma_{\sigma\rho\mu}(k_1, k_2, k_3, m_f)$ term in FeynArts/FormCalc differs from eq. (4.5) by a universal constant in the limit $m_f \to \infty$. As a result, if the heavy fermion T is neglected in the implementation of the model file, the resulting amplitudes from FeynArts/FormCalc would not respect SU(3)_C gauge invariance. Neither does it agree with the analytic calculation using the covariant anomaly approach in eq. (4.5). But if the heavy fermion T is explicitly implemented in FeynArts/FormCalc with the anomaly cancellation condition in eq. (4.1), then the three-point vertex Z'gg from the two computations agree.

In figure 4, we compare the tree and loop cross sections for various couplings and masses. We have implemented the heavy T fermion with the anomaly cancellation condition in the model files. In addition, the grey curve shows the sum of loop cross sections in an incomplete model where the SU(3)_C gauge invariance is lost in the Z'gg vertex (4.2), by neglecting the T fermion in the loop. Clearly, the incomplete model substantially overestimates the cross section.

To understand this large overestimate of the incomplete model consider the parton level production cross sections in figure 5. We show the parton level Z' production cross sections via loops, for various initial states, as a function of the center-of-mass energy \sqrt{s} , in the UV complete (LH plot) versus incomplete model (RH plot). With the chosen parameters, the $gg \rightarrow gZ'$ channel is dominating the production. The parton level cross section predicted by the incomplete model is highly peaked in the low \sqrt{s} regime. In contrast, there is a non-trivial cancellation between the t and T loops contributions seen in the UV complete model. This is the reason why after the convoluting integral with the PDF's, the incomplete model yields a much larger cross section than the UV complete model (see figure 4). This (lack of) cancellation explains the difference between our results and those appearing earlier [10–12].

For the channels whose contributions are mainly from anomaly diagrams, we also find the asymptotic behavior of their parton level cross sections,

$$\sigma \propto \begin{cases} 1/s, & \sqrt{s} \gg M_T, M_{Z'}, m_t \\ 1/M_{Z'}^2, & M_T \gg \sqrt{s} \gg M_{Z'}, m_t \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

In the second case with a superheavy T, the scaling behavior is because it is predominantly the longitudinal component of the Z' that is produced [18, 19]. This explains why the cross section plateaus as function of \sqrt{s} , up to the running of α_s .

Finally, we comment on the $gg \to gZ'$ channel. The calculation of this process is more complicated because it involves both triangle and box diagrams, see figure 2. Due to the non-abelian nature of $SU(3)_C$, the box diagram also has a contribution from the anomaly. The above discussions will have the same impact on the calculations of these contributions. In addition, the vector-current Z'-fermion interaction could also make a contribution to the box diagram, which in the heavy fermion limit, corresponds to an Euler-Heisenberg-like effective operator. In practice, we calculate the $gg \to gZ'$ cross section numerically using FeynArts/FormCalc.



Figure 4. Z' production cross sections at 13 TeV LHC for various channels and various sets of parameters in the model we consider. Blue: tree-level $pp \rightarrow t\bar{t}Z'$; Red: sum of all loop level channels; Orange dashed: loop-level $gg \rightarrow gZ'$; Orange dot-dashed: loop-level $q\bar{q} \rightarrow gZ'$; Orange dotted: loop-level $qg \rightarrow qZ'$ and $\bar{q}g \rightarrow \bar{q}Z'$. Grey: sum of all loop level channels in the incomplete theory without T.



Figure 5. Left: UV complete model with $M_{Z'} = 500 \text{ GeV}$, $c_{t_L} = 0$, $c_{t_R} = 0.1$, $c_{T_L} = 1$, $c_{T_R} = 0.9$ and for two values of $M_T = 5 \text{ TeV}$ (solid), 2 TeV (dashed). Right: incomplete model with $M_{Z'} = 500 \text{ GeV}$, $c_{t_L} = 0$, $c_{t_R} = 0.1$, $c_{T_L} = 0$, $c_{T_R} = 0.2$

In the case of $\sqrt{\hat{s}} > 2M_T$, we verified numerically that the case where Z' couples to T through a vector-current gives the dominant contribution to $gg \to gZ'$ over the anomalyrelated ones (with a small θ_R). This explains why in the $M_T = 1$ TeV case (the top two plots in figure 4), when $M_{Z'} \to 2$ TeV (remember that $\sqrt{\hat{s}} \ge M_{Z'}$) the two orange dashed curves take approximately the same value. In this case, the box diagram involving T is the most important (there is no mass suppression at high enough energy) and the vector-current coupling is $(c_{T_L} + c_{T_R})/2$ is always ~ 1 for small enough θ_R . In the other plots of figure 4, we have $M_{Z'} \ll 4M_T$ thus the region with $\sqrt{\hat{s}} \ll 2M_T$ gives the most important contribution to the LHC cross section, and the anomaly-related diagrams are the most important.

4.2 Our recipe for loop process calculations

To summarize, we provide the following options for properly doing the calculation of looplevel Z' production in a way that respects the SU(3)_C gauge invariance:

- Do the calculation with both t and T running in the loop. Moreover, we must ensure their couplings satisfy the anomaly free condition in eq. (4.1).
- Calculate the diagrams with only top quark running inside the loop using the form factor of the covariant anomaly case, eq. (4.4). Then the heavy T effects can be safely decoupled.
- Calculate the top quark loop and properly include the appropriate Wess-Zumino term such that the $SU(3)_C$ gauge invariance is maintained in the amplitude.

5 LHC bound on the top-philic Z' using multi-top final states

In this section, we classify the possible final states related to top-philic Z' production at the LHC and estimate the current bounds. Our discussion is based on eq. (3.6) in the effective Z' model, where the Z' only has couplings to the top quark and the heavy top partner, but the results also apply to the gauged top model. We assume the mass of Z'lies in the range $2m_t < M_{Z'} < M_T - m_t$, so that the decays $Z' \to t\bar{t}$ and $T \to Z't$ produce onshell decay products. Furthermore, for simplicity we assume that the decay kinematics are such that the top quarks are well separated.

 $t\bar{t}$ final states. As discussed in the previous section, a top-philic Z' boson can be produced at loop level in association with a jet. The Z' then decays into $t\bar{t}$ and it can be searched for as a $t\bar{t}$ resonance. A recent study by the ATLAS collaboration based on a fraction (3.2 fb⁻¹) of existing the 13 TeV data [47] sets an upper limit on the Z' production cross section ranging from 300 pb to 0.2 pb for Z' mass between 500 GeV and 2 TeV. This is a rather weak bound compared to the Z' + j production cross sections derived in figure 4.

Four top final states. The Z' can be produced at tree level in association with $t\bar{t}$. After its decay this leads to the four top quark final state $t\bar{t}t\bar{t}$. A very recent study of the four top channel by the CMS collaboration, using $35.9 \,\mathrm{fb}^{-1}$ of data [48], measures $\sigma_{4t} = 16.9^{+13.8}_{-11.4} \,\mathrm{fb}$, while the SM prediction is $\sigma_{4t}^{\mathrm{SM}} = 12.2 \,\mathrm{fb}$. This leads to an upper bound on the new physics 4-top production cross section to be $\sigma_{4t}^{\mathrm{NP}} \leq 32.3 \,\mathrm{fb}$. This is a relatively weak bound when compared to the results of figure 4. For instance, at threshold for Z' to decay to $t\bar{t}$ the coupling is bounded by $c_{t_R} = g_X \sin^2 \theta_R \lesssim 1$. In the future, with higher LHC luminosities, it will place a non-trivial limit on the model parameter space. We will further quantify the future prospects in the next section and in particular in figure 12, see also [49].

Six top final states. If the heavy top partner is pair produced at the LHC, each will decay into Z' and t (or \bar{t}) as dictated by eq. (3.6). Finally, after Z' decays into $t\bar{t}$, the final state will contain six top quarks. Currently, there is no dedicated search for a six top quark final state at the LHC. However, it is possible for the decay products of the six top quarks to fall into the signal regions of the above four top search. In [48], the number of events have been measured in 8 signal regions characterized by two or three charged leptons (e or μ) and two to four b jets. In each signal region the number of observed events, the number predicted by SM four top, and the number predicted from non-four top processes are reported. Based on the SM four top cross section, the branching fraction of four tops into each signal region, and a b-tagging efficiency of 60% we estimate the signal efficiency factor for a true four top final state to appear in each signal region. For simplicity, we assume that these efficiency factors are independent of the p_T of the leptons and b jets and that they can be applied to the decay products of T. Thus, for a given six top quark production cross section we can estimate the number of events expected in each of the signal regions of the four top quark analysis. Comparing with the existing data, we derive an upper limit on the six top quark production cross section $\sigma_{6t} \leq 3$ fb. Since the vectorlike top partners are mainly produced via QCD interactions, this in turn requires $M_T > 1.3 \text{ TeV}$ [39, 42, 50]. This bound can be weakened if there are additional exotic decay modes of the T [51].

In addition to the searches described above, which are tailored to search for top quarks in the final state, these multi-top final states will also appear in searches for supersymmetry in multilepton final states [52]. If the Z' also decays to leptons the multilepton rates will increase further. A full analysis of the many signal regions in these searches [53, 54] is beyond the scope of this work, but may provide interesting constraints.

6 Application to recent LHCb excesses

In this section, we apply the general discussions in the previous sections to a model with Z' boson and vectorlike quarks, which have been introduced for understanding the recent anomalies in $b \to s\mu^+\mu^-$ transition observables at LHCb. For recent global analysis of the effects in LHCb measurements of R_K , R_{K^*} , P'_5 as well as other flavor observables at LHCb and BaBar, see e.g., [55–64]. As pointed out in [13], this anomaly can be explained without new sources of flavor violation with the addition of a new gauge boson that couples at tree level to only right-handed top quarks and second generations leptons. At low energies the relevant couplings of the Z' gauge boson are,

$$c_{t_R} \bar{t} Z' P_R t + \bar{\mu} Z' (c_L P_L + c_E P_R) \mu + c_L \bar{\nu_\mu} Z' P_L \nu_\mu .$$
(6.1)

These interactions alone make the U(1)' anomalous and the theory must be UV completed. We consider two possible simple completions, corresponding to the two models discussed in section 3. The effective Z' model, in which we introduce vectorlike top partners charged under the U(1)' and turn on their mixings with the SM top quark with the VEV of a new scalar field. And the gauged top model, where the SM right-handed top quark is directly charged under the U(1)' and the new fermions that cancel the anomaly are chiral under the U(1)'. These additional states may be sufficiently heavy that they only show up in loop processes. Similarly, the effective couplings of the Z' to μ and ν_{μ} can be generated by introducing heavy vector-like leptonic partners. Since they are not colored the constraints on their masses, and mixings with SM partners, are weaker.

6.1 B-physics anomalies

Global fits [56–60] to the LHCb excesses, as well as various sets of other B-physics observables, show that they can be fit with two four-fermion operators,

$$\mathcal{H} = -\frac{4G_F}{\sqrt{2}} V_{tb} V_{ts}^* \frac{\alpha_{em}}{4\pi} \left(C_9^{\mu} \mathcal{O}_9^{\mu} + C_{10}^{\mu} \mathcal{O}_{10}^{\mu} \right) + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (6.2)$$

with $\mathcal{O}_{9}^{\ell} = (\bar{s}\gamma^{\mu}P_{L}b) (\ell\gamma_{\mu}\ell)$ and $\mathcal{O}_{10}^{\ell} = (\bar{s}\gamma^{\mu}P_{L}b) (\ell\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{5}\ell)$, and that the best fit region lives in the quadrant with $\delta C_{9} < 0$ and $\delta C_{10} > 0$. An interesting feature of the Z' models is that the couplings of the Z' do not change the quark flavors. Any FCNC effect induced by the Z' must occur at loop level, through diagrams involving additional sources of flavor violation e.g. W^{\pm} or H^{\pm} bosons running in loops [13]. This not only reduces the number of new parameters but also requires the Z' mass to be not far above the electroweak scale in order to give a significant contribution to the effective operators, \mathcal{O}_9 and \mathcal{O}_{10} . It is also worthwhile pointing out that because $\bar{s}\gamma^{\mu}P_L b$ is a conserved current if the quark masses are omitted, the $\mathcal{O}_{9,10}$ operators have no anomalous dimensions from QCD radiative corrections between the scale where these effective operators are generated and the *B*-meson mass scale.



Effective Z'. If we embed the low-energy Lagrangian eq. (6.1) in the context of the effective Z' model described in subsection 3.1, the couplings of the Z' to the SM top quark and the heavy vectorlike fermion T take the approximate form,

$$c_{t_R} = g_X \sin^2 \theta_R, \qquad c_{t_L} \simeq 0, c_{T_R} = g_X \cos^2 \theta_R, \qquad c_{T_L} \simeq g_X,$$
(6.3)

Figure 6. Feynman diagram for the effective Z' model contribution to $b \rightarrow s\mu\mu$.

where θ_R is the mixing angle between the right-handed t_R and T_R and we have taken $M_T \gg m_t$. The loop contribution

is shown in figure 6. It is finite because the Z'bs coupling originates from a dimension 6 operator in the complete theory, $(\bar{s}\gamma^{\mu}P_{L}b)(\Phi^{*}\overleftrightarrow{D}_{\mu}\Phi)$. The corrections to the Wilson coefficients are,

$$\delta C_{9,10} = \frac{g_X \sin^2 \theta_R \left(c_E \pm c_L \right) m_t^2}{4M_{Z'}^2 e^2} \left[\ln \frac{M_T^2}{m_t^2} + \frac{3M_W^2}{m_t^2 - M_W^2} - \frac{3M_W^4}{(m_t^2 - M_W^2)^2} \ln \frac{m_t^2}{M_W^2} \right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_T^2}\right). \tag{6.4}$$

The best fit region favors $c_L \gg c_E$ in the low-energy Lagrangian eq. (6.1). Assuming $c_E = 0$, the region of parameter space that could account for the *B*-physics anomalies is shown by the green regions in figure 8. Figure 8 shows the *B*-physics favored parameter space in the $g_X \cdot M_{Z'}$ plane, with two sets of values of θ_R and c_L . For the coupling g_X to remain perturbative, we must resort to sub-TeV Z' mass and sizable mixing angle $\theta_R \gtrsim 0.1$. Using the parameter relation eq. (3.5) we find that the vectorlike fermion T cannot be arbitrarily heavy, and in turn, the logarithmic factor in eq. (6.4) is not large, and the finite correction terms in the square bracket are also important.

Gauged top model. On the other hand, if we embed the low-energy Lagrangian eq. (6.1) in the context of the gauged top model described in subsection 3.2, the Z' coupling to the top quark and the muon is tied closely to each other. In the $\mu \to 0$ limit, the heavy vectorlike top do not mix with the light one and do not contribute to the $b \to s$ transition. The relevant couplings are

$$c_{t_R} = c_L = g_X, \quad c_{t_L} = 0, \quad c_{T_L} = c_E = 0.$$
 (6.5)

The calculation of the new contribution to $\delta C_{9,10}$ in this model is more complicated, and since $c_L \gg c_E$ we have fixed $c_E = 0$ for simplicity. The result is of course finite, but there is a non-trivial cancellation among the UV divergent parts. We give more details of this calculation in the appendix B. In the heavy H^{\pm} limit, the Wilson coefficients of interest to the $b \to s \mu \mu$ process are,

$$\delta C_{9,10} = \mp \frac{g_X^2 m_t^2 \cos^2 \beta (1 - \sin^2 \beta \cos 2\theta_W)}{4M_{Z'}^2 e^2} \times \left[\ln \frac{M_{H^{\pm}}^2}{m_t^2} - \frac{m_t^2 - 4M_W^2}{m_t^2 - M_W^2} - \frac{3M_W^4}{(m_t^2 - M_W^2)^2} \ln \frac{m_t^2}{M_W^2} \right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_{H^{\pm}}^2}\right), \quad (6.6)$$

In the gauged top model, with $c_E = 0$, we always have the relation that $\delta C_9 = -\delta C_{10}$. We set $M_{H^{\pm}} = 10$ TeV in our calculation, which is large enough to suppress all the $\mathcal{O}\left(m_t^2/M_H^2\right)$ correction terms. Because the gauged top model is a two-Higgs doublet model, we choose to work in the alignment limit which is most consistent with the LHC Higgs rate measurements [65–67]. The *B*-physics favored parameter space in the $g_X - M_{Z'}$ plane is shown in figure 10.

It is also worth pointing out that the above calculation is done by assuming no kinetic mixing between the U(1)' and hypercharge gauge bosons, which is a marginal and gauge invariant operator in the complete theory. Dressing the SM penguin diagrams with this mixing and the Z'-muon coupling will make additional contribution to $C_{9,10}$. If the effective Z' is further embedded in more unified models, it is conceivable that the kinetic mixing vanishes at high scale and is only generated through the running effect. In this case, its contribution to $C_{9,10}$ would be at two-loop level and negligible compared to the one-loop contributions given in eq. (6.4).

6.2 LHC dimuon resonance search for Z'



Figure 7. Feynman diagram for the tree level Z' production in together with $t\bar{t}$.

An important message from figure 8 is that the mass of Z'in this model must lie below ~ TeV scale in order to account for the *B*-physics anomalies. Because the Z' must couple to muons, the dilepton resonance search at the LHC [1] serves as one of the leading measurements to test such an explanation.

As discussed in section 4, there are two important production channels of a top-philic Z' boson at the LHC. One occurs at tree-level, where the Z' is produced in association with $t\bar{t}$. A representative Feynman diagram for this process is shown in figure 7. The second channel is to produce the Z'at loop level in association with a jet, as shown by figure 2. As we have discussed in great detail, the anomaly cancella-

tion plays an important role in such loop processes and the heavy T must be taken into account when calculating the cross sections using FeynArts and FormCalc. We take both production channels into account in our analysis. The comparisons in figure 4 shows that for most of the parameter space with $M_T > M_{Z'}$, the tree-level cross section is higher than the loop-level one by a factor of a few.³

On the other hand, although the dimuon resonance is an inclusive search which allows additional activity in each event, when the Z' is produced together with $t\bar{t}$ the top quark

³There are also loop production channels of the Z' which involve electroweak interactions, such as tjZ', tWZ' and WWZ'. We find their cross sections are all negligibly small.



Figure 8. Favored regions and constraints on the parameter space (the $g_X - M_{Z'}$ plane) of the effective Z' model, defined in eq. (6.1) and (6.3), with $M_T = 1$ TeV, $\sin \theta_R = 0.3$, $c_L = 2g_X$, $c_E = 0$ (left); $M_T = 1.3$ TeV, $\sin \theta_R = 0.5$, $c_L = g_X/2$, $c_E = 0$ (right). The green region in each plot is favored for explaining the LHCb anomalies at 2σ C.L. [59], which corresponds to $C_9^{\mu} = -C_{10}^{\mu}$ and $-1 < C_9^{\mu} < -0.32$. The red shaded regions are excluded by the neutrino trident production measurement. The blue shaded region is excluded by the LHC dimuon resonance search. The dashed (dotted) blue curve corresponds to the future LHC reach with an integrated luminosity 300 (3000)/fb.

decay products could reduce the selection efficiency of isolated muons in the final states. In order to estimate the efficiency, we use MadGraph [68] to simulate the $Z't\bar{t}$ events, run the hadronization with PYTHIA and the detector simulation with Delphes using the default isolation criterion. Requiring that the two leading isolated, opposite-sign muons to be reconstructed, we find the selection efficiency for this channel is roughly 0.4. In contrast, the efficiency for the loop produced Z' channels is almost 1. With these efficiency factors taken into account, we find the contribution from loop level Z' + j production can be as large as 50% of that from the tree level $Z't\bar{t}$ channel.

The three dominant decay modes of the Z' boson are,

$$\Gamma(Z' \to \mu^+ \mu^-) = \frac{c_L^2 + c_E^2}{24\pi} M_{Z'},$$

$$\Gamma(Z' \to \bar{\nu}\nu) = \frac{c_L^2}{24\pi} M_{Z'},$$

$$\Gamma(Z' \to \bar{t}t) = \frac{c_{t_R}^2}{8\pi} \left(1 - \frac{m_t^2}{M_{Z'}^2}\right) \sqrt{1 - 4\frac{m_t^2}{M_{Z'}^2}} M_{Z'}.$$
(6.7)

The LHC dimuon constraint amounts to require that $\sigma(pp \to Z'+X) \times \text{Br}(Z' \to \mu^+\mu^-)$ ×efficiency to be below the upper bound provided in [1]. In figure 8, the blue shaded regions are excluded by the present LHC result. The bound is stronger in the right plot because of the Z' is more abundantly produced at LHC with the larger value of θ_R . The production cross section is proportional to $\sin^4 \theta_R$. Assuming the sensitivity scales as $\propto \mathcal{L}^{-1/2}$, we estimate the future LHC reach with integrated luminosity equal to 300 (3000) fb⁻¹ and show the expect reach using the blue dashed (dotted) curves. Interestingly, the future high luminosity running of LHC could potentially cover much of the remaining region able to explain the present B physics anomalies.

6.3 ν trident production

With $c_L \neq 0$, the Z' necessarily couples to neutrinos and it can contribute to the neutrino trident production process $\nu N \rightarrow N \nu \mu^+ \mu^-$, as shown by figure 9. The rate for this process has been measured (at CHARM-II and CCFR) to be near the SM value. The ratio of the trident cross section in the model eq. (6.1) to that in the SM, is given by [69],

$$\frac{\sigma_{Z'}}{\sigma_{\rm SM}} = \frac{\left(\frac{c_L(c_L+c_E)}{M_{Z'}^2} + \sqrt{2}(1+4s_W^2)G_F\right)^2 + \left(\frac{c_L(c_L-c_E)}{M_{Z'}^2} + \sqrt{2}G_F\right)^2}{2G_F^2\left(1+(1+4s_W^2)^2\right)}.$$
 (6.8)



Figure 9. Feynman diagram for the new contribution to neutrino trident production.

We require that this ratio lies within 2σ of the observed value i.e. $\sigma_{Z'}/\sigma_{\rm SM} < 1.38$. In figure 8, the parameter space excluded by the trident observation corresponds to the red regions. Here, we find an interesting interplay between the LHC dimuon resonance search and the ν trident production measurement. In the left plot, we take a relatively larger Z'-muon (and neutrino) coupling c_L and in this case, the trident bound completely excludes the *B*-physics favored region. In the right plot, we reduce c_L in order to evade the trident bound but increase the Z'-top coupling (through the parameter θ_R), so that the *B*-physics favored region remains. In this case, the LHC dimuon search bound gets stronger and the present data have already excluded part of the favored region. The further

running of LHC with slightly higher luminosity will enable us to either discover the Z' or exclude this model as an explanation for R_K, R_K^* .

6.4 Electroweak precision constraints on Z - Z' mixing

In the gauged top model, the VEV of the Higgs doublet which is charged under both SM and the new U(1)' yields a tree level mixing between the Z and Z' bosons. Their mass matrix has been shown in eq. (3.8) (see also eq. (B.2)). As a consequence, the Z boson mass is shifted, while the W boson mass remains SM-like. This gives a contribution to the $\Delta \rho$ parameter. The current constraint on ρ based on a global fit with the S, T, U parameters is [70], $\rho = 1.0006 \pm 0.0009$. As shown in figure 10, this sets a strong constraint on the gauged top model and all the parameter space for explaining the B-physics anomalies have been excluded.



Figure 10. Favored regions and constraints on the parameter space (the $g_X \cdot M_{Z'}$ plane) of the gauged top model, with $m_{H^{\pm}} = 10 \text{ TeV}$ and $\tan \beta = 1$. The green region in each plot is favored for explaining the LHCb anomalies, which corresponds to $-1 < C_9^{\mu} = -C_{10}^{\mu} < -0.32$ at 2σ C.L. [59]. The magenta region is excluded by the LEP electroweak precision meansurement. The red shaded regions are excluded by the neutrino trident production measurement. The blue shaded region is excluded by the LHC dimuon resonance search. The dashed (dotted) blue curve corresponds to the future LHC reach with an integrated luminosity 300 (3000)/fb.

6.5 Additional constraints

There are further constraints on the model, which could be important if we vary the parameters beyond the scope of figure 8.

Lepton flavor universality of Z couplings at LEP. At one loop level, the exchange of Z' gives a vertex corrections to Z-boson coupling to the muon and its neutrino, as shown by figure 11. Such a radiative correction can be constrained by the measurement at the Z-pole at LEP-II. There are 7 measured Z-boson couplings [71], among which 3 receive additional radiative corrections due to Z' exchange in this model [72],



Figure 11. Feynman diagram for radiative corrections to SM Z-boson coupling that violate lepton number universality.

With $F(x) = -\frac{4+7x}{2x} + \frac{2+3x}{x} \log x - \frac{2(1+x)^2}{x^2} (\log x \log(1+x) + \text{Li}_2(-x))$ $\rightarrow (11 - 6 \log x)x/9 + \mathcal{O}(x^2)$. Because of the flavor structure of the model, there are no corrections to the other Z-boson couplings, $g_{R_e}, g_{L_e}, g_{R_{\tau}}, g_{L_{\tau}}$, and since the SM predictions fits the LEP-II data very well, we simplify our analysis assuming these couplings to be very close to their observed values. To construct the χ^2 for the fit, we use the correlation matrix presented in table 7.7 of [71]. When presenting constraints in figure 12 we hold $M_{Z'}$ fixed so there is one degree of freedom in the fit and the 95% CL exclusion corresponds to $\Delta\chi^2 = 3.84$. The SM limit with $c_L = c_E = 0$ and $\chi^2 = 2.05$ gives the best fit.

LHC four top search. As discussed in section 5, after the Z' is produced at the LHC, it can decay into $t\bar{t}$ according to eq. (6.7) leading to a final state containing four top quarks. This serves as an additional search channel for the Z' boson with mass above ~ 350 GeV. Although present bounds on the four top prouction cross section, $\sigma_{4t} = 16.9^{+13.8}_{-11.4}$ fb [48], are not yet strong enough to constrain the Z' mass if the uncertainties on this measurement scale as $1/\sqrt{\mathcal{L}}$ then future bounds will become significant. In figure 12, we show estimates for future bounds after 300 fb⁻¹ and 3000 fb⁻¹.

Anomalous magnetic dipole of the muon. It is intriguing to ask if the anomaly in the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon (Δa_{μ}) , which may be as large as 4.1σ [73], can be explained at the same time as explaining the *B* anomalies. The correction to the muon's magnetic moment coming from the Z' is [74],

$$\Delta a_{\mu}(Z') = \frac{z_{\mu}}{32\pi^2} \left[(c_L + c_E)^2 \int_0^1 \frac{2x^2(1-x)}{(1-x)(1-z_{\mu}x) + z_{\mu}x} + (c_L - c_E)^2 \int_0^1 \frac{2x(1-x)(x-4) - 4z_{\mu}x^3}{(1-x)(1-z_{\mu}x) + z_{\mu}x} \right],$$
(6.10)

where $z_{\mu} = m_{\mu}^2/M_{Z'}^2$. Unfortunately, we find no parameter space where both $\Delta a_{\mu}(Z')$ and the *B* anomalies can be explained simultaneously. On the other hand, the Δa_{μ} measurement also does not exclude the parameter space that could explain the *B* anomalies.

6.6 Interplay of all constraints in the effective Z' model

There are four parameters in the low energy model, eq. (6.1), c_{t_R} , c_L , c_E and $m_{Z'}$. In order to have a global view of the dependence on all these parameters, we combine all the constraints that are discussed above and show them in a series of plots in figure 12. We fix $M_{Z'}$ for each row of plots and fix c_{t_R} for each column. In each plot, we show the constraints in the c_L - c_E plane. The 1,2,3 σ favored regions by *B*-physics anomalies in R_K , R_K^* are enclosed by thick blue, orange and green circles. The blue shaded region is excluded by the LHC dimuon resonance search, the magenta shaded region is excluded by neutrino trident measurement, and the yellow shaded region is excluded by the LEP measurement of lepton flavor universality in Z-boson couplings. The uncolored shaded region is allowed when all these constraints are taken into account. In addition, we find that the current four top search at LHC is not strong enough to place a bound in these plots. However, with a higher LHC luminosity, there will be a relevant bound for the case with $M_{Z'} \gtrsim 2m_t$ and $c_{t_R} \gtrsim 0.3$. The regions enclosed by the gray dashed (dotted) circles could potentially be excluded with 300 (3000) fb⁻¹.



Figure 12. Favored regions and constraints on the parameter space of the effective Z' model, defined in eq. (6.1). We fix $M_T = 2$ TeV in the calculations that involve the heavy vectorlike fermion T. The 1, 2, 3 σ regions favored by *B*-physics anomalies in R_K, R_K^* are enclosed by thick blue, orange and green contours, respectively. The blue shaded region is excluded by the LHC dimuon resonance search, the magenta shaded region is excluded by the neutrino trident measurement, and the yellow shaded region is excluded by the LEP measurement of lepton flavor universality in Z-boson couplings. The regions enclosed by the gray dashed (dotted) contours could potentially be excluded using the four top channel at LHC after 300 (3000) fb⁻¹, respectively.

7 Conclusion

In this work we considered the phenomenology of a Z' boson coupling primarily to the (right-handed) SM top quark and leptons. Such a "top-philic" Z' could potentially have a mass around the weak-scale without contradicting current experimental constraints. We first discussed the low-energy effective theory, which can be thought of as descending from a U(1)' gauge theory, and presented two possible UV completions giving rise to the preferential coupling of the Z' to the SM top quark.

At the LHC the top-philic Z' can be produced in association with two top quarks at the tree-level or with a jet at the one-loop level. The Z' + j channel, in particular, involves evaluating triangle diagrams containing one Z' boson and two gluons, which need to be dealt with carefully in the presence of an anomalous Z' current. The intricate interplay between the anomaly-cancelling spectator fermions in the UV and the low-energy phenomenology is examined. Furthermore, we present three recipes explaining how to properly compute the production cross-section of the Z' + j channel in the effective theory. When these subtleties are taken into account properly, in certain parts of parameter space, the production rate in the one-loop induced Z' + j channel can be comparable to the rate in the ttZ' channel. This corrects some mistakes in the earlier literature.

The top-philic Z' can be looked for in a model-independent fashion at the LHC in the multi-top final states, which should be the focus of future searches. In addition to direct production of the Z' it may be produced in decays of T, new QCD charged quarks predicted by the UV completion of the U(1)' theory and expected to be not substantially heavier than the Z'. Since no dedicated analyses are presently available, we estimated the bounds by recasting existing searches. The Z' could be as light as a few hundred GeV, while the T must be heavier than ~ 1.3 TeV if all couplings of the Z' other than to the top quark are turned off.

In addition to the multi-top final states, there are constraints from other channels, such as the inclusive dilepton resonance searches, as well as probes of new physics in lowenergy experiments. These low-energy probes include the ν -trident production, precision electroweak constraints on Z-Z' mixing, lepton universality measurements of the Z boson at LEP, and muon g-2. A comprehensive study on the viable parameter space is presented. We apply these constraints to recent attempts to explain the experimental anomalies in $b \to s\mu^+\mu^-$ transitions. We found that part of the parameter space favored by the current $b \to s\mu\mu$ anomaly (in R_K , R_{K^*} observables, etc) is already excluded by constraints from ν trident production. The future high-luminosity LHC will be able to cover much of the remaining regions capable of explaining this particular B physics anomaly.

One of the purposes of this work is to point out the need to re-evaluate our search strategies for new physics, at this particular stage of the experimental program of the LHC, by demonstrating much remains to be done even for such a simple and well-studied extension of the SM like the Z' boson. In particular, final states containing heavy flavor quarks such as the top quark have yet to be explored to their fullest potential. This is a new frontier waiting to be explored.

Note added. While this work was being completed we became aware of [26] where issues relating anomalies to Z' production cross sections were discussed.

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge helpful discussions with Bill Bardeen, Bogdan Dobrescu, Chris Hill, Jernej Kamenik, Maxim Pospelov, Amarjit Soni, Yotam Soreq, and Jure Zupan. PJF would especially like to thank David Tucker-Smith for earlier collaboration. We thank Thomas Hahn for the help on FormCalc. This work is supported by the U.S. DOE grants DE-SC0010143 at Northwestern and DE-AC02-06CH11357 at ANL. This work was supported by the DoE under contract number DE-SC0007859 and Fermilab, operated by Fermi Research Alliance, LLC under contract number DE-AC02-07CH11359 with the United States Department of Energy.

A Deriving the effective Z'gg vertex via path integral

In this appendix, we formally derive the form factor eq. (4.5) in the heavy fermion limit from the path integral. As explained in sections 2 and 4, the three-point Z'gg vertex is only calculable when the full theory is anomaly free. Therefore, we include both t and T quarks in the discussion with their couplings to the Z' boson related to each other (see eq. (4.1)),

$$c_{t_L} - c_{t_R} = -(c_{T_L} - c_{T_R}).$$
(A.1)

We start from the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{f=t,T} \bar{f}(i\partial - g_s \mathcal{G} - c_{f_L} \mathcal{Z}' P_L - c_{f_R} \mathcal{Z}' P_R - m_f) f, \qquad (A.2)$$

where $P_L = (1 - \gamma_5)/2$, $G = G^a_\mu T^a$ is the gluon field and T^a is the group generator. We treat the gauge fields G and Z' as space-time dependent background fields.

Because the Z' coupling is chiral, the fermion mass m_f is not invariant with respect to the corresponding U(1)' gauge symmetry. To restore the symmetry, one could promote m_f into the VEV of a scalar field which is also charged under the U(1)'. The path integral over the would-be goldstone modes in the scalar generates the Wess-Zumino term [30, 31] which does not decouple in the large m_f limit, and is proportional to $(c_{t_L} - c_{t_R}) + (c_{T_L} - c_{T_R})$. The relation (A.1) dictates that this term must vanish.

In addition, when f = t, T is integrated out, there are also anomalous interacting terms between Z' and G at low energy which decouples in the large m_f limit. We derive these terms in the following. Because the mass term m_f is invariant under the SU(3)_C gauge symmetry, the resulting operator will be automatically respect SU(3)_C.

For simplicity, we first set $c_{t_R} = c_{T_R} = 0$, and keep only the left-handed couplings, c_{t_L}, c_{T_L} . The low energy effective action can be written as

$$\Gamma[Z',G] = \log \int [\mathcal{D}f] [\mathcal{D}\bar{f}] e^{i \int d^4 x \mathcal{L}(x)} = \sum_{f=t,T} \operatorname{Tr} \log(i \partial \!\!\!/ - g_s \mathcal{G} - c_{f_L} \mathcal{Z}' P_L - m_f). \quad (A.3)$$

The 3-point Z'gg vertex could be derived by Taylor expanding $\Gamma[Z', G]$ to the term of order $\mathcal{O}(g_s^2 c_{f_L})$, which, after some algebra, takes the form

$$\frac{g_s^2 c_{f_L}}{3!} \left. \frac{\partial^3 \Gamma[Z',G]}{\partial c_{f_L} \partial g_s \partial g_s} \right|_{g_s=g'=0} = -i2g_s^2 c_{f_L} \operatorname{tr}(T^a T^b) \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{(\ell^2 - m_f^2)^3} 2\left\{ (\partial \cdot Z') \operatorname{tr}\left[(\partial \mathcal{G}^a) (\partial \mathcal{G}^b) P_L \right] + \operatorname{tr}\left[\left((\partial^2 \mathcal{G}^a) (\partial \mathcal{G}^b) + (\partial \mathcal{G}^a) (\partial^2 \mathcal{G}^b) \right) \mathcal{Z}' P_L \right] \right\}.$$
(A.4)

It is straightforward to find the matrix element between the $\langle Z'_{\mu}(k_3)G^a_{\sigma}(k_1)G^b_{\rho}(k_2)|$ and $|0\rangle$ states, which gives

$$-\sum_{f} \frac{ig_s^2 c_{f_L}}{48\pi^2 m_f^2} \operatorname{tr}(T^a T^b) Z_{k_3}^{\prime\mu} G_{k_1}^{a\sigma} G_{k_2}^{b\rho} \left\{ \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} k_{3\mu} k_1^{\alpha} k_2^{\beta} + \varepsilon_{\alpha\mu\rho\sigma} k_1^2 k_2^{\alpha} - \varepsilon_{\alpha\mu\rho\sigma} k_2^2 k_1^{\alpha} \right\} .$$
(A.5)

This is the result when f has only left-handed current coupling to the Z' boson. If we also turn on both left- and right-handed couplings c_{f_L} and c_{f_R} , the result will be

$$-\sum_{f} \frac{ig_s^2(c_{f_L} - c_{f_R})}{48\pi^2 m_f^2} \operatorname{tr}(T^a T^b) Z_{k_3}^{\prime\mu} G_{k_1}^{a\sigma} G_{k_2}^{b\rho} \left\{ \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} k_{3\mu} k_1^{\alpha} k_2^{\beta} + \varepsilon_{\alpha\mu\rho\sigma} k_1^2 k_2^{\alpha} - \varepsilon_{\alpha\mu\rho\sigma} k_2^2 k_1^{\alpha} \right\}, \quad (A.6)$$

which is exactly the same form factor in the gauge invariant anomaly case at the large m_f limit (see eqs. (4.2) and (4.5)).

In reality, because the top quark is not infinitely heavy at LHC energies, one must use the full form factor eq. (4.5) to reproduce the correct result for the top quark's contribution to the Z'gg vertex.

B $b \rightarrow s \mu \mu$ in the gauged top model

The gauged top model is a two-Higgs doublet model, with one Higgs H_2 charged under the new U(1)' and the other H_1 uncharged. Because in the model t_R and L_{μ} are also equally charged under the U(1)', the VEV of H_2 is used to give the Dirac mass to the top quark and the muon. The VEV of H_1 is responsible for generating masses for other fermions. This setup does not lead to tree-level flavor change current (FCNC) mediated by the neutral Higgs bosons.

After electroweak symmetry breaking, we define the VEVs and the excitations of $H_{1,2}$ fields in the unitary gauge to be,

$$H_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} -\sin\beta H^{+} \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(v_{H}\cos\beta + H_{1} - i\sin\beta A) \end{pmatrix},$$

$$H_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\beta H^{+} \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(v_{H}\sin\beta + H_{2} + i\cos\beta A) \end{pmatrix},$$
(B.1)

where H^{\pm} is the physical charged scalar, and the lighter of the neutral scalars (a linear combination of $H_{1,2}$) can be made SM-like if the model is close to the alignment limit. This could be realized in the decoupling limit of the second doublet, in which case $m_{H^{\pm}} \approx$ $m_H \approx m_A \gg v_H = 246 \text{ GeV}$. Here for simplicity we assume the two Higgs doublet VEVs preserves CP. In order for the model to be realistic, we also introduce a SM singlet scalar Φ which also carries U(1)' charge unit q_t , with VEV $v_{\Phi'}/\sqrt{2}$. Because H_2 is charged under SU(2)_L, U(1)_Y and U(1)', its VEV will induce a mixing among all the gauge bosons. In the basis of (Z_{SM}, Z') (where Z_{SM} is the Z boson in the SM limit), the mass matrix takes the form

$$M^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{4\cos^{2}\theta_{W}}g_{2}^{2}v_{H}^{2} & \frac{1}{2\cos\theta_{W}}g_{2}g_{X}v_{H}^{2}\sin^{2}\beta \\ \frac{1}{2\cos\theta_{W}}g_{2}g_{X}v_{H}^{2}\sin^{2}\beta & g_{X}^{2}(v_{H}^{2}\sin^{2}\beta + v_{\Phi'}^{2}) \end{pmatrix},$$
(B.2)

where g_2 is the gauge coupling for the SM SU(2)_L. Without loss of generality, we set $q_t = 1$ for simplicity. The LEP measurements dictate the off-diagonal element M_{12}^2 , which controls the $Z_{\rm SM} - Z'$ mixing, to be small compared to the diagonal elements.

We have explicitly calculated the process $b \to s\mu\mu$ in this model, which occurs at one-loop level. It is useful to classify the various contributions diagrammatically into the following groups. We use the mass insertion method, treating $(M^2)_{12}/M_{Z'}^2$ (where $M_{Z'}^2 = (M^2)_{22} \simeq g_X^2 (v_H^2 \sin^2 \beta + v_{\Phi'}^2))$ as the small parameter. We work in the unitary gauge.

• The first class of diagrams correspond to the SM contribution. They include the Z, γ penguin diagrams as well as the box diagram with W^{\pm} boson exchange. These contributions are of order $\mathcal{O}((M^2)_{12}/M_{Z'}^2)^0$. We do not write down their explicit forms, but refer to the classic paper [75].

Instead, we write down the $Z_{\rm SM}$ penguin vertex which will be useful later [76],

$$\sum_{\text{penguin}}^{\text{N}} \sum_{k=1}^{\text{V}} \frac{Z_{\text{SM}}}{256\pi^2 M_W^2} = i \frac{m_t^2 V_{tb} V_{ts}^*}{256\pi^2 M_W^2} \left[2 \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \ln \frac{\mu^2}{m_t^2} \right) - \frac{m_t^2 - 7M_W^2}{m_t^2 - M_W^2} - \frac{6M_W^4}{(m_t^2 - M_W^2)^2} \ln \frac{m_t^2}{M_W^2} \right] \bar{s}_L \gamma^{\mu} b_L Z_{\text{SM},\mu} ,$$

and we define the "W- $Z_{\rm SM}$ penguin" to be the sum of diagrams with the $Z_{\rm SM}$ gauge boson attached in all possible ways,



• The second class of diagrams corresponds to dressing the W- $Z_{\rm SM}$ (as well as the W-Z') penguin diagrams with all possible $Z_{\rm SM} - Z'$ mixing mass insertions (blue cross in the diagrams below), that are up to order $\mathcal{O}((M^2)_{12}/M_{Z'}^2)^1$,



Their contributions to the effective operator $(\bar{s}_L \gamma^{\mu} b_L)(\bar{\mu}_L \gamma_{\mu} \mu_L)$ take the form

$$\mathcal{A}_{W\text{-penguin-}Z'} = -i \frac{g^2 g_X^2 m_t^2 V_{tb} V_{ts}^* \cos^2 \beta (1 - \sin^2 \beta \cos 2\theta_W)}{128 \pi^2 M_{Z'}^2 M_W^2} (\bar{s}_L \gamma^\mu b_L) (\bar{\mu}_L \gamma_\mu \mu_L) \times \left[2 \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \ln \frac{\mu^2}{m_t^2} \right) - \frac{m_t^2 - 7M_W^2}{m_t^2 - M_W^2} - \frac{6M_W^4}{(m_t^2 - M_W^2)^2} \ln \frac{m_t^2}{M_W^2} \right],$$
(B.3)

which is infinite, but is proportional to $\cos^2 \beta$. We find a key relation between the W- $Z_{\rm SM}$ and the W-Z' penguin vertices which is crucial for deriving the above result,



• The third class of diagrams are those that exist in the normal two-Higgs-doublet model (2HDM), with charged-Higgs penguin diagrams and $Z_{\rm SM}$, γ exchange, as shown below,



where the "H-penguin" vertex is defined similarly as the "W-penguin" diagrams. They are the only new contributions to $b \to s\mu\mu$ process in normal 2HDM, and the $Z_{\rm SM}$ and γ exchange diagrams are finite individually. In the heavy charged-Higgs limit, these contributions must go as $1/M_{H^{\pm}}^2$. Because we are more interested in the contributions from Z'exchange, in this paper, we decide to work with heavy enough H^{\pm} ($M_{H^{\pm}} = 10$ TeV) so that these contributions are negligible. Similarly, the box diagrams involving the charged Higgs are also suppressed by its large mass, as well as by the small lepton Yukawa couplings.

• The fourth class of diagrams correspond to dressing the above $H^{\pm}-Z_{\rm SM}$ penguin diagrams with $Z_{\rm SM} - Z'$ mixing mass insertions, up to order $\mathcal{O}((M^2)_{12}/M_{Z'}^2)^1$. The diagrams are shown in below,



Because the $H^{\pm}-Z_{\rm SM}$ vertex is finite, these diagrams are also finite, and go as $1/M_{H^{\pm}}^2$ in the heavy H^{\pm} limit. Similar to bullet 3, we will take a large value of $M_{H^{\pm}} = 10$ TeV and neglect these contributions.

• The fifth class of diagrams correspond to dressing the $H^{\pm}-Z'$ penguin diagrams (similar to the above $H^{\pm}-Z_{\rm SM}$ penguin but with $Z_{\rm SM}$ replace by Z' gauge boson) with possible

 $Z_{\rm SM} - Z'$ mixing mass insertions, up to order $\mathcal{O}((M^2)_{12}/M_{Z'}^2)^1$. The diagrams are shown in below,



We find these diagrams are infinite and their contributions to the effective operator $(\bar{s}_L \gamma^{\mu} b_L) (\bar{\mu}_L \gamma_{\mu} \mu_L)$ take the form

$$\mathcal{A}_{H\text{-penguin-}Z'} = i \frac{g^2 g_X^2 m_t^2 V_{tb} V_{ts}^* \cos^2 \beta (1 - \sin^2 \beta \cos 2\theta_W)}{128 \pi^2 M_{Z'}^2 M_W^2} (\bar{s}_L \gamma^\mu b_L) (\bar{\mu}_L \gamma_\mu \mu_L) \\ \times \left[2 \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \ln \frac{\mu^2}{M_{H^\pm}^2} \right) + 1 + \mathcal{O} \left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_{H^\pm}^2} \right) \right],$$
(B.4)

whose infinite part exactly cancels with that in eq. (B.3).

To summarize, we find that in the heavy H^{\pm} limit, only bullets 2 and 5 in the above make non-zero contribution to the $(\bar{s}_L\gamma^{\mu}b_L)(\bar{\mu}_L\gamma_{\mu}\mu_L)$ operator. Summing eqs. (B.3) and (B.4) together and compare them with the standard definition of $O_{9,10}$ operators, we derive

$$\delta C_9 = -\frac{g_X^2 m_t^2 \cos^2 \beta (1 - \sin^2 \beta \cos 2\theta_W)}{4M_{Z'}^2 e^2} \\ \times \left[\ln \frac{M_{H^{\pm}}^2}{m_t^2} - \frac{m_t^2 - 4M_W^2}{m_t^2 - M_W^2} - \frac{3M_W^4}{(m_t^2 - M_W^2)^2} \ln \frac{m_t^2}{M_W^2} \right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_{H^{\pm}}^2}\right) \\ = -C_{10}. \tag{B.5}$$

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] ATLAS collaboration, Search for new high-mass phenomena in the dilepton final state using $36 fb^{-1}$ of proton-proton collision data at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, JHEP 10 (2017) 182 [arXiv:1707.02424] [INSPIRE].
- [2] CMS collaboration, Search for new phenomena with the M_{T2} variable in the all-hadronic final state produced in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 710 [arXiv:1705.04650] [INSPIRE].
- [3] LHC HIGGS CROSS SECTION WORKING GROUP collaboration, D. de Florian et al., Handbook of LHC Higgs Cross sections: 4. Deciphering the Nature of the Higgs Sector, arXiv:1610.07922 [INSPIRE].

- [4] J. Alexander et al., Dark Sectors 2016 Workshop: Community Report, arXiv:1608.08632
 [INSPIRE].
- [5] J.L. Hewett and T.G. Rizzo, Low-Energy Phenomenology of Superstring Inspired E₆ Models, Phys. Rept. 183 (1989) 193 [INSPIRE].
- [6] A. Leike, The Phenomenology of extra neutral gauge bosons, Phys. Rept. 317 (1999) 143 [hep-ph/9805494] [INSPIRE].
- [7] P. Langacker, The Physics of Heavy Z' Gauge Bosons, Rev. Mod. Phys. 81 (2009) 1199
 [arXiv:0801.1345] [INSPIRE].
- [8] K. Agashe et al., LHC Signals for Warped Electroweak Neutral Gauge Bosons, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 115015 [arXiv:0709.0007] [INSPIRE].
- [9] D. Liu, J. Liu, C.E.M. Wagner and X.-P. Wang, Bottom-quark Forward-Backward Asymmetry, Dark Matter and the LHC, arXiv:1712.05802 [INSPIRE].
- [10] N. Greiner, K. Kong, J.-C. Park, S.C. Park and J.-C. Winter, Model-Independent Production of a Top-Philic Resonance at the LHC, JHEP 04 (2015) 029 [arXiv:1410.6099] [INSPIRE].
- [11] P. Cox, A.D. Medina, T.S. Ray and A. Spray, Novel collider and dark matter phenomenology of a top-philic Z['], JHEP 06 (2016) 110 [arXiv:1512.00471] [INSPIRE].
- [12] J.H. Kim, K. Kong, S.J. Lee and G. Mohlabeng, Probing TeV scale Top-Philic Resonances with Boosted Top-Tagging at the High Luminosity LHC, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 035023 [arXiv:1604.07421] [INSPIRE].
- J.F. Kamenik, Y. Soreq and J. Zupan, Lepton flavor universality violation without new sources of quark flavor violation, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 035002 [arXiv:1704.06005]
 [INSPIRE].
- [14] I. Antoniadis, A. Boyarsky, S. Espahbodi, O. Ruchayskiy and J.D. Wells, Anomaly driven signatures of new invisible physics at the Large Hadron Collider, Nucl. Phys. B 824 (2010) 296 [arXiv:0901.0639] [INSPIRE].
- [15] E. Dudas, Y. Mambrini, S. Pokorski and A. Romagnoni, (In)visible Z-prime and dark matter, JHEP 08 (2009) 014 [arXiv:0904.1745] [INSPIRE].
- [16] A. Ekstedt, R. Enberg, G. Ingelman, J. Löfgren and T. Mandal, Minimal anomalous U(1) theories and collider phenomenology, JHEP 02 (2018) 152 [arXiv:1712.03410] [INSPIRE].
- [17] E. Dudas, L. Heurtier, Y. Mambrini and B. Zaldivar, Extra U(1), effective operators, anomalies and dark matter, JHEP 11 (2013) 083 [arXiv:1307.0005] [INSPIRE].
- [18] J.A. Dror, R. Lasenby and M. Pospelov, New constraints on light vectors coupled to anomalous currents, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 141803 [arXiv:1705.06726] [INSPIRE].
- [19] J.A. Dror, R. Lasenby and M. Pospelov, Dark forces coupled to nonconserved currents, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 075036 [arXiv:1707.01503] [INSPIRE].
- [20] C.B. Jackson, G. Servant, G. Shaughnessy, T.M.P. Tait and M. Taoso, *Higgs in Space!*, *JCAP* 04 (2010) 004 [arXiv:0912.0004] [INSPIRE].
- [21] Y. Zhang, Top Quark Mediated Dark Matter, Phys. Lett. B 720 (2013) 137
 [arXiv:1212.2730] [INSPIRE].
- [22] C.B. Jackson, G. Servant, G. Shaughnessy, T.M.P. Tait and M. Taoso, Gamma Rays from Top-Mediated Dark Matter Annihilations, JCAP 07 (2013) 006 [arXiv:1303.4717] [INSPIRE].

- [23] C.B. Jackson, G. Servant, G. Shaughnessy, T.M.P. Tait and M. Taoso, Gamma-ray lines and One-Loop Continuum from s-channel Dark Matter Annihilations, JCAP 07 (2013) 021 [arXiv:1302.1802] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Ismail, A. Katz and D. Racco, On dark matter interactions with the Standard Model through an anomalous Z', JHEP 10 (2017) 165 [arXiv:1707.00709] [INSPIRE].
- [25] A. Ismail and A. Katz, Anomalous Z' and Diboson Resonances at the LHC, arXiv:1712.01840 [INSPIRE].
- [26] J. Russell and D. Tucker-Smith, Phenomenology of a UV Complete Model for a Top-Friendly Z', Student Thesis, Williams College (2016).
- [27] J. Preskill, Gauge anomalies in an effective field theory, Annals Phys. 210 (1991) 323
 [INSPIRE].
- [28] W.A. Bardeen and B. Zumino, Consistent and Covariant Anomalies in Gauge and Gravitational Theories, Nucl. Phys. B 244 (1984) 421 [INSPIRE].
- [29] J. Wess and B. Zumino, Consequences of anomalous Ward identities, Phys. Lett. B 37 (1971) 95 [INSPIRE].
- [30] E. D'Hoker and E. Farhi, Decoupling a Fermion Whose Mass Is Generated by a Yukawa Coupling: The General Case, Nucl. Phys. B 248 (1984) 59 [INSPIRE].
- [31] E. D'Hoker and E. Farhi, *Decoupling a Fermion in the Standard Electroweak Theory*, *Nucl. Phys.* **B 248** (1984) 77 [INSPIRE].
- [32] L.D. Landau, On the angular momentum of a system of two photons, Dokl. Akad. Nauk Ser. Fiz. 60 (1948) 207 [INSPIRE].
- [33] C.-N. Yang, Selection Rules for the Dematerialization of a Particle Into Two Photons, Phys. Rev. 77 (1950) 242 [INSPIRE].
- [34] W.-Y. Keung, I. Low and J. Shu, Landau-Yang Theorem and Decays of a Z' Boson into Two Z Bosons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008) 091802 [arXiv:0806.2864] [INSPIRE].
- [35] A. Denner, S. Dittmaier, M. Roth and D. Wackeroth, *Predictions for all processes* $e^+e^- \rightarrow 4 \ fermions + \gamma, Nucl. Phys. B 560 (1999) 33 \ [hep-ph/9904472] \ [INSPIRE].$
- [36] A. Denner, S. Dittmaier, M. Roth and L.H. Wieders, *Electroweak corrections to charged-current* e⁺e⁻ → 4 *fermion processes: Technical details and further results*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 724 (2005) 247 [*Erratum ibid.* B 854 (2012) 504] [hep-ph/0505042] [INSPIRE].
- [37] A. Denner and J.-N. Lang, The Complex-Mass Scheme and Unitarity in perturbative Quantum Field Theory, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 377 [arXiv:1406.6280] [INSPIRE].
- [38] P. Artoisenet et al., A framework for Higgs characterisation, JHEP 11 (2013) 043 [arXiv:1306.6464] [INSPIRE].
- [39] P.J. Fox, J. Liu, D. Tucker-Smith and N. Weiner, An Effective Z', Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 115006 [arXiv:1104.4127] [INSPIRE].
- [40] ATLAS, CMS collaborations, Measurements of the Higgs boson production and decay rates and constraints on its couplings from a combined ATLAS and CMS analysis of the LHC pp collision data at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV, JHEP **08** (2016) 045 [arXiv:1606.02266] [INSPIRE].
- [41] N.D. Christensen and C. Duhr, FeynRules Feynman rules made easy, Comput. Phys. Commun. 180 (2009) 1614 [arXiv:0806.4194] [INSPIRE].
- [42] J. Alwall, M. Herquet, F. Maltoni, O. Mattelaer and T. Stelzer, MadGraph 5: Going Beyond, JHEP 06 (2011) 128 [arXiv:1106.0522] [INSPIRE].

- [43] T. Hahn and M. Pérez-Victoria, Automatized one loop calculations in four-dimensions and D-dimensions, Comput. Phys. Commun. 118 (1999) 153 [hep-ph/9807565] [INSPIRE].
- [44] NNPDF collaboration, R.D. Ball et al., Parton distributions for the LHC Run II, JHEP 04 (2015) 040 [arXiv:1410.8849] [INSPIRE].
- [45] T. Carli et al., A posteriori inclusion of parton density functions in NLO QCD final-state calculations at hadron colliders: The APPLGRID Project, Eur. Phys. J. C 66 (2010) 503
 [arXiv:0911.2985] [INSPIRE].
- [46] L. Rosenberg, Electromagnetic interactions of neutrinos, Phys. Rev. 129 (1963) 2786 [INSPIRE].
- [47] ATLAS collaboration, Search for heavy particles decaying to pairs of highly-boosted top quarks using lepton-plus-jets events in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, ATLAS-CONF-2016-014 (2016).
- [48] CMS collaboration, Search for standard model production of four top quarks with same-sign and multilepton final states in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 140 [arXiv:1710.10614] [INSPIRE].
- [49] E. Alvarez and M. Estevez, ttbb as a probe of new physics at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 035016 [arXiv:1701.04427] [INSPIRE].
- [50] M. Czakon and A. Mitov, Top++: A Program for the Calculation of the Top-Pair Cross-Section at Hadron Colliders, Comput. Phys. Commun. 185 (2014) 2930 [arXiv:1112.5675] [INSPIRE].
- [51] B.A. Dobrescu and F. Yu, Exotic Signals of Vectorlike Quarks, arXiv:1612.01909 [INSPIRE].
- [52] E. Alvarez, D.A. Faroughy, J.F. Kamenik, R. Morales and A. Szynkman, Four Tops for LHC, Nucl. Phys. B 915 (2017) 19 [arXiv:1611.05032] [INSPIRE].
- [53] CMS collaboration, Search for supersymmetry in events with at least three electrons or muons, jets and missing transverse momentum in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$, JHEP **02** (2018) 067 [arXiv:1710.09154] [INSPIRE].
- [54] CMS collaboration, Search for electroweak production of charginos and neutralinos in multilepton final states in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$, arXiv:1709.05406 [INSPIRE].
- [55] S. Descotes-Genon, L. Hofer, J. Matias and J. Virto, Global analysis of $b \rightarrow s\ell\ell$ anomalies, JHEP 06 (2016) 092 [arXiv:1510.04239] [INSPIRE].
- [56] M. Ciuchini et al., On Flavourful Easter eggs for New Physics hunger and Lepton Flavour Universality violation, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 688 [arXiv:1704.05447] [INSPIRE].
- [57] B. Capdevila, A. Crivellin, S. Descotes-Genon, J. Matias and J. Virto, *Patterns of New Physics in* $b \rightarrow s\ell^+\ell^-$ transitions in the light of recent data, *JHEP* **01** (2018) 093 [arXiv:1704.05340] [INSPIRE].
- [58] G. D'Amico et al., Flavour anomalies after the R_{K^*} measurement, JHEP **09** (2017) 010 [arXiv:1704.05438] [INSPIRE].
- [59] W. Altmannshofer, P. Stangl and D.M. Straub, Interpreting Hints for Lepton Flavor Universality Violation, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 055008 [arXiv:1704.05435] [INSPIRE].
- [60] L.-S. Geng, B. Grinstein, S. Jäger, J. Martin Camalich, X.-L. Ren and R.-X. Shi, Towards the discovery of new physics with lepton-universality ratios of $b \rightarrow s\ell\ell$ decays, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 093006 [arXiv:1704.05446] [INSPIRE].

- [61] G. Hiller and I. Nisandzic, R_K and R_{K^*} beyond the standard model, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 035003 [arXiv:1704.05444] [INSPIRE].
- [62] A. Celis, J. Fuentes-Martin, A. Vicente and J. Virto, Gauge-invariant implications of the LHCb measurements on lepton-flavor nonuniversality, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 035026 [arXiv:1704.05672] [INSPIRE].
- [63] D. Ghosh, Explaining the R_K and R_{K^*} anomalies, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 694 [arXiv:1704.06240] [INSPIRE].
- [64] A.K. Alok, B. Bhattacharya, A. Datta, D. Kumar, J. Kumar and D. London, New Physics in $b \rightarrow s\mu^+\mu^-$ after the Measurement of R_{K^*} , Phys. Rev. **D** 96 (2017) 095009 [arXiv:1704.07397] [INSPIRE].
- [65] C.-Y. Chen, S. Dawson and M. Sher, *Heavy Higgs Searches and Constraints on Two Higgs Doublet Models*, *Phys. Rev.* D 88 (2013) 015018 [Erratum ibid. D 88 (2013) 039901]
 [arXiv:1305.1624] [INSPIRE].
- [66] N. Craig, F. D'Eramo, P. Draper, S. Thomas and H. Zhang, The Hunt for the Rest of the Higgs Bosons, JHEP 06 (2015) 137 [arXiv:1504.04630] [INSPIRE].
- [67] C.-Y. Chen, S. Dawson and Y. Zhang, Complementarity of LHC and EDMs for Exploring Higgs CP-violation, JHEP 06 (2015) 056 [arXiv:1503.01114] [INSPIRE].
- [68] J. Alwall et al., The automated computation of tree-level and next-to-leading order differential cross sections and their matching to parton shower simulations, JHEP 07 (2014) 079 [arXiv:1405.0301] [INSPIRE].
- [69] W. Altmannshofer, S. Gori, M. Pospelov and I. Yavin, Neutrino Trident Production: A Powerful Probe of New Physics with Neutrino Beams, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 091801 [arXiv:1406.2332] [INSPIRE].
- [70] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, C. Patrignani et al., Review of Particle Physics, Chin. Phys. C 40 (2016) 100001 [INSPIRE].
- [71] ALEPH, DELPHI, L3, OPAL, SLD collaborations, the LEP Electroweak Working Group, the SLD Electroweak, the SLD Heavy Flavour Group, S. Schael et al., *Precision electroweak* measurements on the Z resonance, *Phys. Rept.* **427** (2006) 257 [hep-ex/0509008] [INSPIRE].
- [72] W. Altmannshofer, C.-Y. Chen, P.S. Bhupal Dev and A. Soni, Lepton flavor violating Z' explanation of the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Phys. Lett. B 762 (2016) 389 [arXiv:1607.06832] [INSPIRE].
- [73] F. Jegerlehner, Muon g-2 theory: The hadronic part, EPJ Web Conf. 166 (2018) 00022
 [arXiv:1705.00263] [INSPIRE].
- [74] F.S. Queiroz and W. Shepherd, New Physics Contributions to the Muon Anomalous Magnetic Moment: A Numerical Code, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 095024 [arXiv:1403.2309] [INSPIRE].
- [75] T. Inami and C.S. Lim, Effects of Superheavy Quarks and Leptons in Low-Energy Weak Processes $K_L \to \mu\bar{\mu}, K^+ \to \pi^+\nu\bar{\nu}$ and $K^0 \leftrightarrow \bar{K^0}$, Prog. Theor. Phys. **65** (1981) 297 [Erratum ibid. **65** (1981) 1772] [INSPIRE].
- [76] X.-G. He, J. Tandean and G. Valencia, Penguin and Box Diagrams in Unitary Gauge, Eur. Phys. J. C 64 (2009) 681 [arXiv:0909.3638] [INSPIRE].